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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
WEST PALM BEACH DIVISION

Civil Action No.

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,

V.
RENAISSANCE HEALTH PUBLISHING, LLC, a
limited liability company, also d/b/a Renown Health
Products; and
JAMES DIGEORGIA, individually and as an
owner, officer, and managing member of

RENAISSANCE HEALTH PUBLISHING, LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), for its Complaint alleges:

1 The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission
Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain permanent injunctive relief, rescission or
reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten
monies, and other equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Sections 5(a)
and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 52, in connection with the sale and marketing of
Isoprex, a pill that purportedly treats all types of pain and inflammation.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331, 1337(a),

and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a) and 53(b).
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3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1391(b)(1), (b)(2), (c)(1) ,
(©)(2), and (d) and 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

4. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government created by
statute. 15 U.S.C. 88 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §45(a),
which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. The FTC also
enforces Section 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 52, which prohibits false advertisements for
food, drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics in or affecting commerce.

5. The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own
attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable relief as may be
appropriate in each case, including rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund
of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. 88§ 53(b) and 56(a)(2)(A).

DEFENDANTS

6. Defendant Renaissance Health Publishing, LLC (“Renaissance Health
Publishing™) also doing business as Renown Health Products, is a Florida limited liability
company with its principal place of business at 2424 North Federal Highway, Suite 401, Boca
Raton, Florida 33431. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with
others, Renaissance Health Publishing has advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold Isoprex to
consumers throughout the United States.

7. Defendant James DiGeorgia (“DiGeorgia”) is a managing member and 75%
owner of Renaissance Health Publishing. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or
in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or

participated in the acts and practices of Renaissance Health Publishing, including the acts and
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practices set forth in this Complaint. Mr. DiGeorgia has played a major role in developing and
formulating Isoprex by working with the manufacturers. He has also played a major role in
drafting the direct mail brochures promoting Isoprex as well as reviewing brochures that others
drafted. In addition, he personally reviewed scientific material about the ingredients. Defendant
DiGeorgia continues to play a significant role in the day-to-day management of the company,
where his responsibilities include product development, market development, and corporate
planning. Defendant DiGeorgia resides in this district and, in connection with the matters
alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United
States.
COMMERCE

8. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial
course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,
15U.S.C. § 44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

9. Since at least 2008, and continuing thereafter, Defendants have advertised,
promoted, offered for sale, and sold Isoprex to the public using direct mail brochures and
websites such as www.isoprex.com and www.renownhealthproducts.com. Isoprex is an
ingestible pill consisting primarily of a combination of various herbs and spices.

10. Since at least 2014, Defendants’ primary method of advertising has been multi-
page direct mail pieces targeting seniors. Defendants sell a single bottle of Isoprex for $49.95
plus shipping and handling. From January 2014 to November 2018, Defendants generated more

than $ 2.4 million in gross sales minus refunds of Isoprex.
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11. The direct mail advertisements disseminated by Defendants contain numerous
endorsements from individuals. Many of these consumer endorsers were employees, relatives of
employees, or professionally associated with employees or owners of Renaissance Health
Publishing.

12. To induce consumers to purchase Isoprex, Defendants have disseminated or
caused to be disseminated advertisements containing the following statements and depictions:

A. Adirect mail piece distributed at various times between January 1, 2014 and June 16,
2017:
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B. Another direct mail brochure for Isoprex distributed at various times between
January 1, 2014 and June 16, 2017, states:

11
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C.  Another direct mail brochure for Isoprex distributed at various times in 2018 states:

13
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D. Another direct mail brochure for Isoprex distributed at various times between
January 1, 2014 and June 16, 2017 states:

16
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VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

13. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts
or practices in or affecting commerce.”

14, Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive
acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

15. Section 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 52, prohibits the dissemination of any
false advertisement in or affecting commerce for the purpose of inducing, or which is likely to
induce, the purchase of food, drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics. For the purposes of Section
12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 52, Isoprex is either a “food” or “drug” as defined in Section
15(b) and (c) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 55(b) and (c).

COUNT I
False or Unsubstantiated Efficacy Claims
16. Through the means described in Paragraph 12, Defendants have represented,

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Isoprex:

A. Relieves pain, including muscle pain, joint pain, headache, and arthritis;

B. Reduces inflammation and swelling, including joint inflammation and
knee swelling;

C. Rebuilds joints and repairs damaged joint cartilage;

D. Is 100% effective in relieving inflammation and swelling; and

E. Provides pain relief comparable or superior to over-the-counter drugs.

17. The representations set forth in Paragraph 16 are false or misleading, or were not

substantiated at the time the representations were made.

18
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18.

Therefore, the making of the representations as set forth in Paragraph 16 of this

Complaint constitutes a deceptive act or practice, and the making of false advertisements, in or

affecting commerce, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §8 45(a) and

52.

19.

COUNT 11

False Proof Claims

Through the means described in Paragraph 12, Defendants have represented,

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Isoprex is clinically proven to:

20.

A.

D.

E.

Relieve pain, including muscle pain, joint pain, headache, and arthritis
pain;

Reduce inflammation and swelling, including joint inflammation and knee
swelling;

Rebuild joints and repair damaged joint cartilage;

Relieve 100% of inflammation and swelling; and

Provide pain relief comparable or superior to over-the-counter drugs.

In truth and in fact, Isoprex is not clinically proven to:

A

Relieve pain, including muscle pain, joint pain, headache, and arthritis
pain;

Reduce inflammation and swelling, including joint inflammation and knee
swelling;

Rebuild joints and repair damaged joint cartilage;

Relieve 100% of inflammation and swelling; and

Provide pain relief comparable or superior to over-the-counter drugs.

19
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21. Therefore, the making of the representation as set forth in Paragraph 19
constitutes a deceptive act or practice and the making of false advertisements, in or affecting
commerce, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a) and 52.

COUNT 11
Failure to Disclose Material Connections with Endorsers

22. In numerous instances in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion,
offering for sale, or sale of Isoprex, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly
or by implication, that the consumer endorsements of Isoprex in their advertising, including
those set forth in Paragraph 12, reflect the experiences and opinions of Isoprex users.

23. In numerous instances in which Defendants have made the representation set forth
in Paragraph 22 of this Complaint, they have failed to disclose, or disclose adequately to
consumers, that the consumer endorsers appearing in their advertising had material connections
to the Defendants. Specifically, Defendants did not disclose that the consumer endorsers were
compensated in connection with their endorsement, and some of the consumer endorsers were
employees, relatives of employees, or professionally associated with employees or owners of
Defendant Renaissance Health Publishing. For example, Geoff Garbacz, who is identified in the
advertisement as a consumer endorser named Geoff, is also an associate of Defendant DiGeorgia
and an individual who was compensated for copywriting services he provided to Renaissance
Health Publishing. The consumer endorser identified as Christy Lorenzo is also an employee of
Renaissance Health Publishing, while the consumer endorser identified as John A. is a relative of
an employee at Renaissance Health Publishing. These facts would be material to consumers in

evaluating the consumer endorsements for Isoprex in connection with a purchase or use decision.

20
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24. Defendants’ failure to disclose or disclose adequately the material information
described in Paragraph 23, above, in light of the representation described in Paragraph 22, above,
constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §
45(a).

CONSUMER INJURY

25. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result
of Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched
as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants
are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

26. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b), empowers this Court to grant
injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations
of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable
jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and
remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff FTC, pursuant to Section13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b),

and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests that the Court:

A Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act by
Defendants;
B. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act, including, but not limited to, rescission or

21
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reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-

gotten monies; and

C. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Dated: 4/15/2020

Respectfully submitted,

Alden F. Abbott
General Counsel

/s/ Sydney Knight
SYDNEY M. KNIGHT
EDWARD GLENNON
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Mail Drop CC-10528
Washington, D.C. 20850
Tel.: 202-326-3126, -2162
Fax: 202-326-3259
Email: eglennon@ftc.gov
sknight@ftc.gov
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